IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

SCA EFiled: Jul 22 2024
11:39AM EDT
Transaction ID 73740484

STATE OF WEST VIRGINIA,

Respondent herein;

v.

CARLI RENAE REED,

Defendant Below;

Petitioner herein.

Case No. 24-341
Criminal Action No. 23-F-74 (Taylor County)
The Honorable Shawn D. Nines

BRIEF OF PETITIONER CARLI RENAE REED

Counsel for Petitioner

Hunter B. Mullens, WV Bar No. 7620
C. Brian Matko., WV State Bar No. 7995
Matthew L. Ervin, WV State Bar No. 13197
MULLENS & MULLENS, PLLC
9 North Main Street
PO Box 95
Philippi, WV 26416
Telephone: (304) 457-9000
Facsimile: (304) 457-9002
hmullens@mullensandmullens.com
bmato@mullensandmullens.com
mervin@mullensandmullens.com

ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- 1. The trial court erred in failing to give Ms. Reed credit for time served on home incarceration post-conviction. The terms of her home incarceration were penal in nature, and failure to provide her with credit against her sentence violated the Double Jeopardy and Equal Protection Clauses of the West Virginia Constitution.**
- 2. The trial court erred in failing to give Ms. Reed credit for time served on home incarceration pre-conviction. The terms of her home incarceration were penal in nature, and failure to provide her with credit against her sentence violated the Double Jeopardy and Equal Protection Clauses of the West Virginia Constitution.**
- 3. The trial court erred in failing to give due consideration to Ms. Reed's right to rehabilitation. The trial court further erred by using an impermissible factor when determining her sentence, specifically referring to the fact that Ms. Reed was convicted of second-degree murder when that conviction was overturned due to errors made by the trial court.**

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case has previously been before the West Virginia Supreme Court of Appeals. *See State of West Virginia v. Carli Renae Reed, Case No. 21-0227 (memorandum opinion)*. This appeal involves the trial court's failure to credit Ms. Reed for time spent on home incarceration both pre-conviction and post-conviction. In addition, the trial court, used impermissible factors in sentencing Ms. Reed and further failed to consider alternative sentencing when the uncontroverted testimony was that Ms. Reed would not pose a risk to re-offend and that the West Virginia correctional system did not provide the type of treatment needed by Ms. Reed.

On August 15, 2019, Carli R. Reed was arrested and subsequently charged with the first-degree murder for the death of her husband, Marcus Fagons. On September 24, 2020, after a seven (7) day trial, Petitioner, was convicted of second-degree murder. At trial, Ms. Reed raised the alternative defenses of Battered Woman's Syndrome and accident. At the time of her arrest, Ms.

Reed was twenty-three (23) years old, a graduate of West Virginia University and an employee of the Federal Bureau of Investigation. She had been married to Mr. Fagons for approximately three (3) years. During their three (3) year marriage, Ms. Reed suffered numerous instances of physical, verbal, emotional and sexual abuse at the hands of Mr. Fagons to such an extent that she exhibited traits and characteristics consistent with battered woman's syndrome.

Ms. Reed appealed her conviction to the West Virginia Supreme Court of Appeals, and her conviction was overturned on the grounds that the trial court failed to provide a jury instruction on the defense theory of accident.¹ The case was remanded back to Barbour County, West Virginia for a new trial. Ms. Reed, who had been incarcerated since August 15, 2019, was granted bail and, in addition to a bond in the amount of Nine Hundred Thousand Dollars (\$900,000.00), Ms. Reed was also placed on home incarceration. [App. Vol. 1, pgs. 1-5.]

Due to the local publicity surrounding the case, the State of West Virginia and the Defendant agreed to transfer the case to Taylor County, West Virginia. [App. Vol. 1, pgs. 28-33.] On September 26, 2023, Ms. Reed entered an Alford Plea to one (1) count of voluntary manslaughter. The trial court accepted Ms. Reed's plea. [App. Vol. 1, pgs. 34-53.] The trial court further ordered Ms. Reed to remain on home incarceration until the sentencing hearing. The Court scheduled the sentencing hearing on March 28, 2024. At the hearing, Ms. Reed moved to have her time spent on home incarceration credited to her sentence and for an alternative sentence. The trial court denied both motions, and sentenced Ms. Reed to fifteen (15) years. [App. Vol. 1, pgs. 133-136.]

¹ In addition, Justice Hutchinson authored a concurring opinion in which he further opined that the trial court should allow Mr. Fagons' previous romantic partner to testify about the physical, emotional, verbal and sexual abuse she suffered from Mr. Fagons.

Statement of Facts

Ms. Reed met Mr. Fagons while they attended Philip Barbour High School in Barbour County, West Virginia. Ms. Reed was sixteen (16) years old and Mr. Fagons was nineteen (19) or twenty (20), and a second-year senior, at the time they met. Ms. Reed began to tutor Mr. Fagons, and a sexual relationship began shortly thereafter. After discovering that Mr. Fagons had impregnated another girl, Ms. Reed ended the relationship. [App. Vol. 2, pgs. 231-232.]

Ms. Reed and Mr. Fagons reconnected in January, 2016, and began dating shortly thereafter. [App. Vol. 2, pg. 244.] They moved in together in May, 2016 and, Ms. Reed, who had saved a significant amount of money, began to use that money to pay rent, utilities, Mr. Fagons' court fines and Mr. Fagons' outstanding child support. [App. Vol. 2, pgs. 247-249;] Ms. Reed quickly ran out of the money she had saved, and could no longer afford to live in their apartment. As such, they moved into an apartment on a farm owned by Ms. Reed's grandparents for which they were not charged rent. [App. Vol. 2, pgs. 250-251.] Prior to moving into the farm apartment, Ms. Reed and Mr. Fagons got married. [App. Vol. 2, pg. 251.]

During the course of their marriage, Mr. Fagons began to abuse Ms. Reed on a regular basis. Mr. Fagons established a routine for abusing Ms. Reed. It would start when he would get mad about something as insignificant as Ms. Reed forgetting to lock a door. Mr. Fagons would physically abuse Ms. Reed and many times would rape her. If Ms. Reed attempted to fight back, Mr. Fagons would call Ms. Reed's mother and tell her that Carli was being crazy again. Ms. Reed began to believe that her mother was on Mr. Fagons' side and that her mother thought she was crazy.

On August 15, 2019, after arriving at work at the FBI, Ms. Reed began to receive calls from Mr. Fagons asking her to call his work and tell his supervisors that there was a family emergency and that he needed to come home. Mr. Fagons asked her to make the calls because he was assigned to the "tower," and didn't like working there. Mr. Fagons was also concerned at work because he was the subject of a sexual harassment complaint. Ms. Reed and Mr. Fagons continued to text each other throughout the morning and into Ms. Reed's lunch break. Ms. Reed became so upset that she decided to leave work. After leaving work, Ms. Reed called Mr. Fagons to tell him that she left work because if she didn't call him, she would likely suffer consequences. The consequences she would suffer would include a beating and possibly rape. After speaking to Ms. Reed, Mr. Fagons decided to leave work as well. [App. Vol. 2, pgs. 214-219.]

When Mr. Fagons got home, Mr. Fagons and Ms. Reed went into the bedroom and they talked about getting a divorce. Mr. Fagons seemed to be in favor of getting a divorce until he learned that Ms. Reed would not continue to pay for a car for him to use, his insurance or any of his other bills. Mr. Fagons became angry, stated that he did not want to talk about the divorce anymore and wanted to take a nap. Mr. Fagons asked Ms. Reed to lay down with him, she refused and went into the living room. [App. Vol. 2, pgs. 221-223.]

After a period of time, Ms. Reed returned to the bedroom, and Mr. Fagons stated that he wanted to go forward with the divorce. Ms. Reed, who had previously been treated for suicidal ideations and was having suicidal thoughts on that day, decided to kill herself. [App. Vol. 2, pgs. 223; 226.] Ms. Reed reached over and grabbed Mr. Fagons' gun which he kept on the nightstand. Ms. Reed grabbed the holster of the gun with her left hand and withdrew the gun from the holster with her right hand. As she was pulling the gun out of the holster, Ms. Reed shut her eyes, the gun went off and Mr. Fagons was struck in the head. [App. Vol. 2, pg. 226.]

Ms. Reed was disoriented after the gun went off, and walked out into the living room. After noticing that Mr. Fagons was silent, Ms. Reed returned to the bedroom to check on him. While checking on Mr. Fagons, Ms. Reed saw Mr. Fagons' phone and noticed that he had been texting another girl. Ms. Reed bent down to pick up the phone, shook Mr. Fagons and then saw that blood was coming out of Mr. Fagons ear. Ms. Reed did not know what to do, realized her mother, Stephanie Reed, would know what to do, and left to get her mother who lived about five (5) minutes away. [App. Vol. 2, pgs. 226-228.]

Procedural History

On September 24, 2020, after a seven (7) day trial, Ms. Reed was convicted of second-degree murder. Ms. Reed appealed her conviction to the West Virginia Supreme Court of Appeals, in which she asserted a number of assignments of error including: 1) failure of the trial court to provide a jury instruction on the defense of accident; 2) the jury instruction on the defense of battered woman's syndrome was erroneous; 3) the trial court's denial of Petitioner's motion *in limine* to preclude the introduction of certain body camera footage; 4) the trial court's granting of the State's Motion to Bifurcate the trial; 5) the trial court's denial of Petitioner's Notice of Intent to Use and Motion to Admit Rule 404(b) evidence in which Petitioner sought to introduce evidence of Mr. Fagons' abuse of previous romantic partners; 6) the trial court's finding that the State failed to "open the door" to allow evidence of Mr. Fagons' past abuse of romantic partners; 7) the State violated the Petitioner's right to due process by failing to provide transcripts from previous hearings in a timely manner; and 8) the Petitioner's right to due process was violated by the trial court entering Orders after the Petitioner's Notice of Intent to Appeal was filed. On October 17, 2022, the West Virginia Supreme Court of Appeals entered its decision in which it overturned the Petitioner's conviction and sentence on the basis that the trial court committed reversible error in

failing to provide a jury instruction on the defense theory of accident. *See State of West Virginia v. Carli Renae Reed, Case No. 21-0227 (memorandum opinion)*. Pursuant to the Court's decision, the case was remanded to the Circuit Court of Barbour County, West Virginia for a new trial.

On November 16, 2022, the Petitioner filed a Motion to Admit the Petitioner to Bail, which was opposed by the State of West Virginia. On December 20, 2022, the trial court entered an Order granting the Petitioner's motion to be admitted to bail, and set her bond at nine hundred thousand dollars (\$900,000.00) cash or surety. In addition, if the Petitioner was able to post bond, she would be subject to the trial court's standard terms and conditions of bond set forth in the Arraignment Order, dated June 16, 2020, be placed under the supervision of the 19th Judicial Circuit Probation Office, and be placed on home confinement with electronic monitoring. [App. Vol. 1, pgs. 1-5.]

On December 22, 2022, the Petitioner was able to post bond. [App. Vol. 1, pg. 25.] Upon release, Ms. Reed reported to the Barbour County Sheriff's Office. While at the Sheriff's office, Ms. Reed received her home electronic monitoring device and was required to agree to and sign the Rules and Regulations of Probation/Bond Supervision, Loss of Firearms Privilege Notification, and the Home Incarceration Electronic Monitoring Program Agreement². [App. Vol. 1, pgs. 11-23.]

Under the terms of her home confinement, Ms. Reed was required to live with her parents at their residence in Barbour County, West Virginia. If she went outside, she could only be six (6) feet from the front porch. She was only allowed to leave to the residence to meet with her attorneys and to travel to medical appointments. Ms. Reed was also allowed to attend one (1) religious

² On December 22, 2022, the Barbour County Home Confinement Officer was Sarah Parks. Mrs. Parks passed away in February, 2023 and was replaced as Home Confinement Officer by Deputy Gunnar Kennedy. Deputy Kennedy required Ms. Reed to agree to and sign additional documents that set conditions on home incarceration.

service, which was a Sunday morning service, per week.³ [App. Vol. 1, pg. 142.] Under the usual terms and condition of home incarceration in Barbour County, West Virginia, a defendant is allowed a five (5) hour period every Wednesday in which to run errands and purchase groceries or any other necessities. In Ms. Reed's case, she was not allowed to have this five (5) hour period in which she could leave the residence.

On April 26, 2023, the State of West Virginia, thorough its special prosecutor, and Ms. Reed entered into a stipulation to move the case from Barbour County, West Virginia to Taylor County, West Virginia, which was approved by the Court on August 7, 2023.⁴ [App. Vol. 1, pgs. 28-33.]

On September 26, 2023, Ms. Reed entered into a Plea Agreement with the State of West Virginia in which she agreed to enter an *Alford Plea* to one (1) count of voluntary manslaughter. [App. Vol. 1, pgs. 34-53.] On September 26, 2023, the trial court accepted the plea agreement, and adjudicated Ms. Reed guilty and ordered that Ms. Reed be convicted of one (1) count of voluntary manslaughter. The trial court further order the Barbour County Probation Office to complete a pre-sentence investigation report, which was completed on November 6, 2023⁵. [App. Vol. 1, pgs. 54-57.]

The trial court held the sentencing hearing on March 28, 2024. At the hearing, Ms. Reed moved to be credited for time spent on home incarceration and further moved for an alternative sentence of home incarceration. [App. Vol. 1, pgs. 71-130] With regard to her motion for

³ Ms. Reed attended Faith Way Baptist Church in Barbour County. Faith Way has at least four (4) services per week.

⁴ The original prosecutor assigned to this matter, Thomas Hoxie, was appointed to the 19th Judicial Circuit to replace retired Judge Alan Moats. Andrew Phillips was appointed to replace Judge Hoxie as the Prosecuting Attorney for Barbour County, West Virginia. Mr. Phillips was deemed to have a conflict and Michael Parker, the Prosecuting Attorney for Randolph County, West Virginia, was appointed as special prosecutor. [App. Vol. 1, pgs. 26-27.]

⁵ On May 29, 2024, the trial court entered an Amended Conviction Order. The Amended Conviction Order did not alter Ms. Reed's sentence or any of the issues present in this appeal. [App. Vol. 1, pgs. 58-61.]

alternative sentence, Ms. Reed presented evidence through Dr. David Clayman, the head of the West Virginia Dangerous Risk Assessment Advisory Board, that she did not pose a risk to commit another violent criminal act and that the West Virginia correctional system could not provide the type of treatment needed by Ms. Reed. The trial court denied Ms. Reed's motion for alternative sentence, and sentenced Ms. Reed to fifteen (15) years. The trial court further denied Ms. Reed's motion to give her credit for time served on home incarceration, both pre-conviction and post-conviction. [App. Vol. 1, pgs. 133-136.]. Ms. Reed filed written objections to the trial court's sentence and to the trial court's denial of her motion for alternative sentence and motion for credit for time served on home incarceration. In addition, Ms. Reed filed objections to the Sentencing Order entered on May 30, 2024. [App. Vol. 2, pgs. 546-559.].

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The trial court made substantial errors in its sentencing of Ms. Reed. The errors made by the court have resulted in Ms. Reed serving an extended sentence and being punished in excess of the sentence allowed for the crime for which she was convicted. In addition, the trial court erred by failing to consider certain rights available to defendants when sentenced and further relied upon an impermissible factor when sentencing Ms. Reed.

The trial court abused its discretion in failing to credit Ms. Reed for time spent on home incarceration post-conviction. The West Virginia Supreme Court of Appeals has consistently held that the requirements of home incarceration set forth in the Home Incarceration Act, specifically W.Va. Code § 62-11B-5 are penal in nature. Ms. Reed, after entering an Alford Plea to one (1) count of voluntary manslaughter, was ordered to remain on home incarceration for approximately six (6) months, before she was sentenced. The restrictions imposed upon Ms. Reed during that approximately six (6) month period met, and in some instances exceeded, the restrictions set forth

in W.Va. Code § 62-11B-5. As such, her time spend on post-conviction home incarceration must be considered penal in nature, and Ms. Reed should be given credit for her time served on post-conviction home incarceration.

The trial court further abused its discretion in failing to give Ms. Reed credit for time spent on home incarceration prior to her conviction. During her pre-trial home incarceration, Ms. Reed was subject to all of the restrictions required by W.Va. Code § 62-11B-5. In some instances, the restrictions to which Ms. Reed was subject were in excess of those set forth in W.Va. Code § 62-11B-5. As the West Virginia Supreme Court of Appeals has held that home incarceration that is subject to the restrictions required by W.Va. Code § 62-11B-5 is penal in nature, it must follow that Ms. Reed's pre-conviction home incarceration was penal in nature as well. The fact that Ms. Reed was not deemed an "offender" under W.Va. Code § 62-11B-3(3), is a distinction without a difference. Ms. Reed's liberties were restricted just as much pre-conviction, as they were post-conviction. As such, she should receive credit for time served on pre-conviction home incarceration.

The trial court also abused its discretion in failing to consider rehabilitation in its sentencing of Ms. Reed. During the sentencing hearing, Ms. Reed presented unopposed testimony that she was not a risk to reoffend. Additionally, Ms. Reed presented unopposed testimony that the West Virginia Division of Corrections and Rehabilitation could not provide the services required by Ms. Reed if she was incarcerated. In failing to consider such unopposed testimony the trial court failed to consider Ms. Reed's right to rehabilitation.

In addition, the trial court used an impermissible factor in sentencing Ms. Reed to fifteen (15) years. As one of the justifications for the sentence of fifteen (15) years, the trial court referenced that Ms. Reed has previously been convicted of second-degree murder. That conviction

was overturned, and the fact that she was previously convicted should have no bearing on her sentence.

STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION

Petitioner submits that oral argument is necessary upon this appeal under Rule 19 of the West Virginia Rules of Appellate Procedure as this appeal involves issues involving assignments of error in the application of settled law and an unsustainable exercise of discretion by the trial court where the law governing that discretion is settled. In addition, the issues presented in this appeal involve narrow issues of law.

ARGUMENT

- I. Ms. Reed was entitled to credit for the time she served on home incarceration post-conviction. The trial court's failure to give her credit against the sentence imposed was a violation of the Double Jeopardy Clause and the Equal Protection Clause of the West Virginia Constitution.**

At the March 28, 2024 sentencing hearing in this matter, Ms. Reed moved the trial court for credit for time served on post-conviction home incarceration. The trial court denied Ms. Reed's motion and stated that Ms. Reed had been warned at the previous hearing, where her plea agreement was accepted by the trial court, that she may not receive credit for time served on home incarceration. [App. Vol. 1, pgs. 135; 178-179.] However, even though the trial court warned Ms. Reed that she may not receive credit for post-conviction home incarceration, under West Virginia law, the trial court was required to give credit. The trial court's failure to do so, violated Ms. Reed's constitutional right against Double Jeopardy and the Equal Protection Clause of the West Virginia Constitution.

With regard to sentencing orders, the West Virginia Supreme Court of Appeals reviews such sentencing orders under a deferential abuse of discretion standard, unless the order violates statutory or constitutional commands. Syl. Pt. 1, in part, *State v. Lucas*, 201 W.Va. 271, 496 S.E. 2d 221 (1997).

A. The period of time spent by Ms. Reed on home incarceration post-conviction was penal in nature.

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