IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

Appeal No. 24-341

SCA EFiled: Sep 05 2024
03:29PM EDT
Transaction ID 74243219

STATE OF WEST VIRGINIA,

Respondent,

v.

CARLI R. REED,

Petitioner.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

PATRICK MORRISEY
ATTORNEY GENERAL

Mary Beth Niday (WV Bar # 9092)
Assistant Attorney General
State Capitol Complex
Building 6, Suite 406
Charleston, WV 25305-0220
Email: Mary.B.Niday@wvago.gov
Telephone: (304) 558-5830
Facsimile: (304) 558-5833

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The circuit court did not abuse its discretion in not granting credit for time spent on home confinement as a condition of bail or in imposing sentence on Petitioner.

First, the circuit court properly exercised its statutorily-vested discretion and did not grant Petitioner credit for post-conviction time spent on home confinement as a condition of her bail. The court properly reasoned that Petitioner received leniency by virtue of her plea agreement with the State. Her constitutional double jeopardy and equal protection safeguards were not violated because her home confinement was not imposed as an alternative sentence and her financial condition did not factor into her ability to make bail.

Second, Petitioner was not considered an "offender" under the Home Confinement Act during her time spent on pretrial home confinement as a condition of bail and, so, she was not even eligible for credit. Moreover, the court was vested with the discretion to impose such credit and, based on the leniency she received by virtue of her plea, lawfully chose not to grant credit.

Third, Petitioner’s sentence was within statutory limits and not based on any impermissible sentencing factors. This Court should, therefore, not review her sentence. Nevertheless, the court heard testimony from Petitioner’s expert witness at sentencing and properly considered all rehabilitative opportunities available to Petitioner. Based on the leniency her plea afforded her, the court actively chose not to impose an alternative sentence. The court also did not impermissibly consider Petitioner’s history, including her prior conviction for second-degree murder that was overturned.

The Court should therefore affirm.

STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION

Oral argument is unnecessary, and this case is suitable for disposition by memorandum decision because the record is fully developed, and the arguments of both parties are adequately presented in the briefs. W. Va. R. App. P. 18(a)(3), (4).

STANDARD OF REVIEW

This Court “reviews sentencing orders . . . under a deferential abuse of discretion standard, unless the order violates statutory or constitutional commands.” Syl. pt. 1, *State v. James*, 227 W. Va. 407, 710 S.E.2d 98 (2011) (quoting syl. pt. 1, *State v. Lucas*, 201 W. Va. 271, 496 S.E.2d 221 (1997)). Importantly, however, “[s]entences imposed by the trial court, if within statutory limits and if not based on some [im]permissible factor, are not subject to appellate review.” Syl. pt. 4, *State v. Goodnight*, 169 W. Va. 366, 287 S.E.2d 504 (1982).

ARGUMENT

I. The imposition of post-conviction credit for time spent on home confinement as a condition of bond is discretionary with the court. The circuit court did not abuse its discretion in failing to grant credit for Petitioner’s time spent after she pleaded guilty to involuntary manslaughter.

Petitioner claims she is entitled to credit for the time spent on post-conviction home confinement and that the failure to award such credit violates due process and equal protection principles set forth in the West Virginia Constitution. Pet’r’s Br. 10-23. First, citing *State v. Jedediah C.*, 240 W. Va. 534, 814 S.E.2d 197 (2018), and *State v. McGuire*, 207 W. Va. 459, 533 S.E.2d 685 (2000), Petitioner asserts that she was entitled to credit because the terms and conditions imposed for her release on bail to home confinement included those set forth in West Virginia Code § 61-11B-5. Pet’r’s Br. 20-21. Petitioner is mistaken: *McGuire* was superseded by statute, West Virginia Code § 62-11B-11(b)—as recognized by *Jedediah C.*—making the granting of post-conviction home confinement credit entirely discretionary with the court.

The Home Incarceration Act (“the Act”), West Virginia Code §§ 62-11B-1 through 62-11B-13, “applies only to post-conviction situations and is penal in nature.” *Jedediah C.*, 240 W. Va. at 537, 814 S.E.2d at 200 (citing *State v. Hughes*, 197 W. Va. 518, 526-27, 476 S.E.2d 189, 197-98 (1996)). This Court has held that the Act applies only to “‘offenders,’ which are defined in the Act as ‘any adult *convicted of a crime* punishable by imprisonment or detention in a county jail or state penitentiary,’” or certain convicted juvenile offenders. *Id.* (emphasis in original). As Petitioner notes, this Court held in *McGuire* that “when an offender is placed on home incarceration as a condition of post-conviction bail,” under the Act, “if the terms and conditions imposed upon the offender are set forth fully in the home incarceration order and [include] the mandatory, statutory requirements enunciated in West Virginia Code § 62-11B-5, then the offender is entitled to receive credit toward any sentence imposed for time spent on home

incarceration.” 207 W. Va. at 464, 533 S.E.2d at 690 (footnote omitted). This entitlement to credit was not contingent on whether “the offender violate[d] the terms and conditions of home incarceration [or] whether or not the order specifically reference[d] the Home Incarceration Act.” *Id.*

As Petitioner fails to point out, however, the Legislature amended the Act in 2001 after the Court decided *McGuire* and the Act now explicitly states that “[u]pon conviction of a person, the circuit court . . . may, in its discretion, grant credit for time spent on home incarceration as a condition of bail toward any sentence imposed, if the person is found to have complied with the terms of bail.” W. Va. Code § 62-11B-11(b) (emphasis added); *see also Jedediah C.*, 240 W. Va. at 539, 814 S.E.2d at 202 (stating that “the Legislature amended the Act, making it discretionary as to whether a circuit court grants credit to an offender for time spent on home incarceration.”). Petitioner seems to be relying on the overturned portion of *McGuire*, as cited in *Jedediah C.*, and requests this Court to find, pursuant to *McGuire*, that because the terms and conditions imposed upon her home confinement met the statutory requirements, the court abused its discretion in not granting credit. Pet’r’s Br. 19-20.

Like Petitioner, the petitioner in *Jedediah C.* was placed on home confinement solely as a condition of his pretrial bail. *Jedediah C.*, 240 W. Va. at 539, 814 S.E.2d at 202. Unlike Petitioner, however, the circuit court denied Jedediah C.’s request to continue home confinement after he pleaded guilty and he was remanded to jail pending sentencing. *Id.* Thus, Jedediah C. was not an “offender” for purposes of the Act because he never served time on post-conviction home confinement. *Id.* But “even if” the Act applied to the petitioner, the Court explained, it would have found that the circuit court’s denial of credit was not an abuse of discretion under West Virginia Code § 62-11B-11(b). *Id.* at 539-40, 814 S.E.2d at 202-03. The circuit court reasoned that Jedediah

C.’s “crimes of repeated sexual assault” against his child and two friends were heinous in nature and that he “benefited from his plea bargain to the extent that . . . it’s just not suitable to give him credit for home confinement spent on pre-trial release condition.” *Id.* The takeaway from *Jedediah C.* is that the circuit court has broad discretion to determine whether a grant of credit for time served on home incarceration is warranted.

In the instant matter, Petitioner was placed on home confinement as a condition of her pretrial bail and she remained on home confinement until her sentencing hearing. Thus, after she pleaded guilty, she was considered an offender for purposes of the Act. Pursuant to West Virginia Code § 62-11B-5, the terms and conditions imposed on Petitioner’s home confinement following her plea—post-conviction—included requirements that she be confined at her home except for noted exceptions, App. Vol. I, 11, 20-22; advised Petitioner her “[f]ailure to follow all rules . . . can and will result in [her] Home Confinement privileges being revoked immediately,” App. Vol. I, 12; advised Petitioner when she could leave her home and that she had to request permission beforehand to do so, App. Vol. I, 20-22; advised Petitioner that she was not to commit another crime during the period of home confinement, App. Vol. I, 11, 21; that she must report any change of address to her probation officer within twenty-four hours, App. Vol. I, 15; that she maintain a working landline telephone in her home and electric service, App. Vol. I, 15, 18-19; that she pay a home confinement fee and other fees to the court, App. Vol. I, 18-19; and that she abide by other conditions set by the court, App. Vol. I, 18-19.

Although Petitioner was subject to the requirements of Section 62-11B-5, the decision to grant credit remains within the discretion of the circuit court. Petitioner seems to equate “entitled to receive credit” with a mandatory right to credit. Pet’r’s Br. 21. That is simply not the case. While eligibility for credit requires meeting the statutory terms and conditions of Section 62-11B-5, the

circuit court still retains the authority to decide whether or not to award that credit. Here, the court opted not to award credit because Petitioner received “substantial consideration in the current plea agreement which significantly reduced her possible sentence.” App. Vol. I, 135. Petitioner was charged with murder, was convicted and sentenced to forty years of imprisonment for second degree murder, and following a reversal on appeal, subsequently pleaded to voluntary manslaughter, carrying only a fifteen-year term of imprisonment. App. Vol. I, 135. Though Petitioner’s former conviction and sentence was remanded for a new trial, the court did not consider the “passage of time” as a factor that would diminish the heinous nature of the crime. App. Vol. I, 135. This reasoning is essentially the same as what this Court found acceptable in *Jedediah C.* and, therefore, the circuit court did not abuse its discretion in denying credit for Petitioner’s time spent on post-conviction home confinement.

A. Petitioner’s right to be free from double jeopardy was not violated.

Petitioner argues that the double jeopardy clause requires that she be given credit for home incarceration that is qualitatively similar to incarceration. Pet’r’s Br. 21. As held by this Court, “[t]he constitutional prohibition of double jeopardy consists of three separate guarantees: (1) It protects against a second prosecution for the same offense after acquittal; (2) It protects against a second prosecution for the same offense after conviction; (3) And it protects against multiple punishments for the same offense.” *State ex rel. Day v. Silver*, 210 W. Va. 175, 178-79, 556 S.E.2d 820, 823-24 (2001); *see also State v. Ricketts*, 219 W. Va. 97, 102, 632 S.E.2d 37, 42 (2006). Petitioner’s argument relates to the third guarantee; she contends, because she was not given credit for time served on post-conviction home confinement as a condition of bail, she was punished twice for the same offense. Pet’r’s Br. 22. She also argues that the Legislature’s “adoption of W. Va. Code § 62-11B-11(b) does not negate the penal nature of the Home Incarceration Act, and any

individual who is subject to the restrictions set forth in W. Va. Code 62-11B-5 is entitled to receive credit against any sentence imposed.” Pet’r’s Br. 21.

In support of her argument, Petitioner cites to *Conner v. Griffith*, 160 W. Va. 680, 238 S.E.2d 529 (1977), wherein this Court held that “the failure to credit on the underlying sentence the time served on parole prior to the revocation of parole constitutes a multiple punishment for the same offense, and is a violation of the Double Jeopardy Clause of the West Virginia Constitution.” Pet’r’s Br. 22. Petitioner does not cite to any authority that holds, or even suggests, that post-conviction home confinement that was continued as a condition of pretrial bail is considered “punishment” for the purpose of a double jeopardy analysis. Petitioner was given the grace to remain out on bail until she was sentenced—another benefit to her pleading guilty to voluntary manslaughter. Moreover, the circuit court was statutorily vested with the discretion to determine whether to impose post-conviction credit, and carefully considered the specific facts of Petitioner’s case—including the nature of the crime and the benefit she received from her plea in determining that awarding her such credit was not appropriate.

Moreover, in Syllabus Point 3 of *State v. Walker*, this Court held that West Virginia Code § 62-11B-9(b) “permits a participant in a home incarceration program to receive credit for time served while incarcerated in his home only where the term of home incarceration was imposed as an alternative sentence to another form of incarceration.” 244 W. Va. 61, 851 S.E.2d 507 (2020). Thus, the penal nature of post-conviction home incarceration seems contingent upon the type of sentence imposed. Here, after the court accepted Petitioner’s plea, it continued her home confinement as a condition of bail. This continuation on bail was not an alternative sentence and, therefore, was not penal in nature; thus, she did not receive two punishments for the same crime. Section 62-11B-11(b) gives the circuit court an opportunity to extend grace, within its discretion,

in a situation where credit for time served may otherwise have been inappropriate. The court properly exercised its discretion and found Petitioner was not entitled to any more grace given the lenience received by virtue of her plea.

Because the circuit court did not abuse its discretion and Petitioner fails to allege a cognizable double jeopardy claim, Petitioner's argument on this point fails.

B. Petitioner's right to equal protection was not violated.

Petitioner argues that the equal protection clause is implicated by the facts of this case. Pet'r's Br. 21-23. Petitioner has not suggested any facts, however, that demonstrate a denial of equal protection. *See generally* syl. pt. 7, *State ex rel. Blankenship v. Warner*, 241 W. Va. 362, 852 S.E.2d 309 (2018) ("Equal protection of the law is implicated when a classification treats similarly situated persons in a disadvantageous manner.").

Regarding sentencing and credit for time served, an equal protection issue arises "when two people receive a sentence for the same term of incarceration but one of those people actually serves a longer period of time in jail *simply because he or she is financially unable to post the bail* required to secure pretrial release." *McClain*, 211 W. Va. at 66-67, 561 S.E.2d at 788-89 (emphasis added); *see also Martin v. Leverette*, 161 W. Va. 547, 550, 244 S.E.2d 39, 41 (1978) ("The equal protection argument runs on the premise that an invidious discrimination based on wealth occurs where the indigent defendant, unable to obtain bail, stays in jail, while his wealthier counterpart is free on bond and, receiving the same ultimate sentence, will have served less total time since he had no jail time."). That situation, demonstrating an inequity because of economic disparity, did not occur here.

Petitioner's financial circumstance did not play any part in the terms of her pretrial bail. She was admitted to bail, and the term of home confinement as a condition of that bail was ordered to secure her appearance at future proceedings and to protect the community. More importantly,

this Court held in *Hughes* that though “the Double Jeopardy and Equal Protection Clauses” call for “time spent in jail either pre-trial or post-trial, [to be] credited on the sentence . . . [t]hat principle, however, is inapplicable where an individual has not been subject to incarceration or the equivalent thereof.” 197 W. Va. at 526 n.11, 476 S.E.2d at 197 n.11. As discussed in the previous section, Petitioner was not subject to a form of incarceration and, therefore, equal protection principles were not violated when the court did not grant credit for time spent on home confinement as a condition of bail. Therefore, the equal protection clause has no application here.

II. Petitioner’s pretrial home confinement was not penal in nature and cannot be considered the same as incarceration in a jail or a prison for the purpose of granting credit for time served.

Petitioner claims that she is entitled to credit for time served on home confinement as a condition of pretrial bail—as opposed to post-conviction bail—because “all of the restrictions required by W.Va. Code § 61-11B-5 were placed upon [Petitioner] during her pre-conviction home incarceration, her pre-conviction home incarceration must be considered penal as well.” Pet’r’s Br. 25. Yet, because Petitioner was placed on home confinement as a condition of pretrial bail, the nature of home confinement under the Act is inapplicable to her pre-trial home confinement. *See Jedediah C.*, 240 W. Va. at 537, 814 S.E.2d at 200 (“[T]he Act applies only to *post-conviction* situations.”) (emphasis added)).

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